# **Development Committee**

Wednesday, 11th November, 2009

#### MEETING OF DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Members present: Councillor Humphrey (Chairman); and

Councillors M. Browne, Crozier, N. Kelly, Kirkpatrick,

Kyle, C. Maskey, Mac Giolla Mhín, Mhic Giolla Mhín, Mullaghan, Rodgers,

Rodway and Stoker.

In attendance: Ms. S. McCay, Head of Economic Initiatives and

Interim Co-Director of Development;

Mr. T. Husbands, Head of City Events and Venues and

Interim Co-Director of Development;

Ms. C. Taggart, Community Services Manager;

Mr. S. McCrory, Principal Committee Administrator; and

Mr. N. Malcolm, Committee Administrator.

### **Apologies**

Apologies for inability to attend were reported from Councillors Campbell, Convery, Ekin, McCausland and O'Reilly.

### **Councillor Convery**

Having been advised that Councillor Convery was recuperating in hospital following an operation, the Committee agreed that its best wishes for a speedy recovery be conveyed to him.

### **Minutes**

The minutes of the meeting of 14th October were taken as read and signed as correct. It was reported that those minutes had been adopted by the Council at its meeting on 2nd November.

### Interim Cover Arrangements for the Director of Development Post

(Mrs. J. Minne, Head of Human Resources, attended in connection with this item.)

At this point in the meeting, at the request of the Chairman, all officers present, with the exception of the Head of Human Resources and the Committee Administrator, left the room whilst this item was discussed.

The Head of Human Resources informed the Committee that, since there was no natural deputy for the Director within the Departmental structure, the undernoted arrangements would be in place until the new Director of Development was in post:

- (i) the Head of City Events and Venues would be responsible for issues relating to the Waterfront and Ulster Halls; Events; Community Services and Business Support;
- (ii) the Head of Economic Initiatives would be responsible for issues relating to Economic Development; The North Foreshore; Planning and Transport; Tourism, Culture and Arts; European matters; Policy and Business Development; Good Relations issues and the Strategic Neighbourhood Action Plan; and
- (iii) the two officers would jointly be responsible for:
  - providing strategic leadership and support to the Chief Executive;
  - developing the agenda for Committee meetings, dealing with issues raised at such meetings and working with the Committee Chairman;
  - setting the agenda for the Development Department Management Team and issues arising therefrom;
  - attending Committee, Council and Chief Officers' Management Team meetings;
  - working with outside organisations; and
  - any other related issues.

She reported that, in accordance with the remuneration arrangements agreed for Chief Officers and Heads of Service by the former Personnel Sub-Committee, at its meeting on 23rd February, 2004, each officer would receive a payment of two additional increments until the new Director was in post. These costs would be met by the savings resulting from the Director of Development post being vacant.

During discussion in the matter, a Member stated that it was usual for one officer to act-up and asked why more than one officer was doing so on this occasion. Discussion also took place on the cost of these arrangements and whether they could be met from within the existing budget.

# Development Committee, Wednesday, 11th November, 2009

In reply, the Head of Human Resources indicated that, where there was one deputy to a vacant post, full acting-up arrangements may be applied but where there was more than one officer reporting to a vacant post (in this case two Heads of Service reporting to the Director) the options were either to undertake a selection process to select one officer to act up or to share the responsibilities between the officers reporting to the vacant post. Since the recruitment exercise for the position of Director of Development was underway, it had not been considered to be appropriate to undertake a selection process to fill the post of Director in a temporary capacity. Accordingly, the Business Improvement Section had been requested to undertake an assessment on the basis of the duties of the Director of Development post being divided between the two Heads of Service as outlined above, with both members of staff receiving as recompense two additional increments on the pay scale. She pointed out that the Head of City Events and Venues and the Head of Economic Initiatives were content with these arrangements. She advised the Committee that these additional payments to the two Heads of Service could be accommodated out of the savings arising from the vacant Director of Development post and therefore could be met from within the Department's salaries budget.

Following further discussion, the Committee noted the information which had been provided regarding the interim cover and remuneration arrangements which would be in place until the new Director of Development was in post.

### **Tall Ships Event**

The Chairman informed the Committee that the Council had received recently awards in connection with the Tall Ships event and congratulated the members of staff who had been involved in that very successful event.

Arising from discussion in the matter, several Members raised questions concerning the timing of the issuing of invitations to Councillors to attend the awards ceremony.

In response, the Principal Committee Administrator undertook to investigate the issue and respond directly to the Members who had raised the matter.

Noted.

### **Gasworks Northern Fringe Presentation**

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Relevant Background Information

An integrated design team led by Consarc Design Group has been working since May 2008 on the preparation of an outline planning application for the Northern Fringe site which covers 6.7 acres of gross developable land, the last phase of the Gasworks Estate. Members agreed at the meeting on 16 September 2009 to receive a presentation from Consarc Design Group on the development proposals for this significant regeneration site.

### **Key Issues**

#### **Land Uses**

Through discussions between the design team, the Council, the statutory consultees, and the neighbouring community, a Masterplan has evolved developed in cognisance of planning, transport, environment and contextual considerations. Five development sub-plot parcels have emerged to be identified in the presentation as sites A, B, C, D and E. A key objective of the plan is to ensure each parcel made a significant and individual contribution to the overall Gasworks complex.

Sites A and B bounded by Cromac Street and Raphael Street are designated as Gateway Sites in the draft Belfast Metropolitan Area Plan, occupying a pivotal landmark site and focal point on an arterial route into the City centre. Urban design guidance and discussions at the Dbmap (draft Belfast Metropolitan Area Plan) Inquiry indicated acceptable height ranges of between six and nine storeys. The buildings on site will accommodate offices and a carefully designed setback along Raphael Street addresses the relationship with the three existing dwellings.

Site C is at the rear of the existing hotel and will accommodate an extension to the Radisson Hotel. Members agreed at Committee on 16 January 2008 to officers entering into negotiations with Inislyn, the developers of the Radisson SAS Hotel, in a one to one deal in order to maximise the potential of sites C and D. It is envisaged that this development block will evolve in a similar design to the existing hotel. It will accommodate bedrooms, meeting/function rooms and conference facilities. Site D accommodates an office development and multi-storey car-park for 300 plus relocated spaces.

The Estates Management Unit in the Core Improvement Team are leading negotiations with Inislyn. Land and Property Services (LP&S) have confirmed that Inislyn are best placed to realise the fullest potential of sites C and D through greater density of development by building adjacent to the existing hotel. Heads of terms are under negotiation between BCC and Inislyn and LP&S are instructed to confirm that any agreement between the parties brought before Members provides best value to Council.

Site E is located adjacent to the River Lagan and the Halifax building and has a distinct context. The development opportunity inspired the creation of an iconic river-front building with office use in two distinct structures interlinked into a high quality design. This layout and siting has been carefully designed to respect the existing residential properties on McAuley Street.

The Northern Ireland Electricity (NIE) site adjoining the Northern Fringe lands remains on the market. However, in the current economic climate NIE are in no rush to sell. The Northern Fringe lands have been designed to ensure that in the future BCC may be in a position to influence the development on this site. Contamination-Part III of the Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern Ireland) Order 1997, the enactment of which is impending, outlines the regulatory regime under which land and water contamination issues in Northern Ireland are assessed and managed. Discussions with the Northern Ireland Environment Agency have triggered a series of actions as a result of the proposed planning submission.

- A preliminary risk assessment of the site's historic usage to highlight potential contaminant sources and potential human health and environmental risks.
- Intrusive site investigation works.
- A quantitative contamination assessment.

Current emerging issues show that the subsoils are heavily impacted with contaminants throughout the soil profile with the most concentrated contaminants located within the top 6.0metres below ground level. Whilst a detailed risk assessment and detailed remedial strategy will be required, direct engagement with NIEA by BCC has begun to ascertain our statutory responsibility under legislation as yet enacted and also any retrospective liability for the existing Gasworks Estate.

#### **Community Gain**

The Asset Management Group are considering what options, if any, are available to BCC to provide "payback" to the local community from completion of the Gasworks Estate. Until the costs and liabilities of BCC are fully known in relation to the contamination issue no decision can yet be reached. However, if Members are satisfied with the development proposals as outlined by Consarc Design Group in their presentation, further engagement with the adjoining residents and the Markets Development Association will take place.

### **Resource Implications**

### **Financial**

A provisional asset valuation for the Gasworks Northern Fringe Lands of £6 million per acre at 1 April 2009.

### Recommendations

- Members are asked to approve the development proposals for the Gasworks Northern Fringe lands as presented by Consarc Design Group.
- 2. Members are asked to approve further engagement with the Markets Development Association and adjoining residents on the development proposals.
- 3. Members are also asked to note the contamination issue and that a further report will be brought back to Committee. Legal Services will be meeting with NIE to discuss the impacts of the yet to be enacted Part III of the Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 on the development of the Gasworks Northern Fringe lands.

# **Decision Tracking**

Following approval by Committee of the development proposals and resolution of the contaminated land and community issues, an outline planning application will be submitted to Planning Service for the Gasworks Northern Fringe lands.

Timeline: April 2010 Reporting Officer: Shirley McCay

### **Key to Abbreviations**

Dbmap - draft Belfast Metropolitan Area Plan BCC - Belfast City Council MDA - Markets Development Association LP&S - Land & Property Services."

The Committee was informed that Ms. Sarah Villiers and Mr. Noel Graham from Consarc Design Group and Ms. Kellie McNamara and Mr. Kevin McShane from RPS were in attendance and they were admitted to the meeting and welcomed by the Chairman.

With the assistance of visual aids, Mr. Graham outlined to the Members the proposals which the design team had drawn-up for the five development sites on the Northern Fringe. He pointed out that it was intended that the buildings and landscaping would be of high quality and would complement the existing developments at the Gasworks Site and the nearby housing on Raphael Street. He informed the Members that any associated planning issues would not be dealt with by the Planning Service until the planning application had been submitted. He concluded his presentation by indicating that the next steps would involve community consultation, the resolution of outstanding issues and the submission of an outline planning application.

# Development Committee, Wednesday, 11th November, 2009

In answer to Members' questions regarding the decontamination of the site, Ms. McNamara indicated that detailed site investigation work had established that there were residual contaminants in the soil and that the groundwater was contaminated. She pointed out that, since excavation of the contaminated soil would be expensive, it was proposed that the soil would be sealed and that the remedial costs would be met by developers of the various sites.

During discussion, Members pointed out that the community consultation exercise should involve the Donegall Pass Community Forum as well as the Markets Development Association. It was suggested that consideration of the recommendations contained in the report should be deferred until the Committee's meeting in December to allow a copy of Consarc's development proposals to be circulated to Members of the Committee.

The Committee agreed to this course of action and requested that the Head of Economic Initiatives have a copy of the development proposals circulated as soon as possible.

### **Independent Review of Economic Policy**

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Relevant Background Information

The purpose of this report is to bring to the attention of the Development Committee details of a consultation on the Independent Review of Economic Policy (Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment and Invest NI).

Members will be aware the Review was commissioned by the Minister of Enterprise, Trade and Investment, Arlene Foster MLA, in December 2008 and was undertaken by an independent panel, chaired by Professor Richard Barnett, Vice Chancellor of the University of Ulster. Other members of the panel included Professor Brian Ashcroft, University of Strathclyde and Board member of the Economic Research Institute of NI; Dr Graham Gudgin, Centre for Business Research, University of Cambridge, and Oxford Economics; Professor Michael Moore, Queen's University and Harvard University; Mr John Wright, former international banking director and current Chairman and non-executive director of a number of companies in the UK and overseas.

The Review Panel was asked to determine whether existing DETI and Invest NI policies, programmes and resources will sufficiently contribute to the economic goals of the Programnme for Government and to make recommendations designed to strengthen the NI economy.

Key recommendations put forward by the report include:

- Core economic functions (covering DETI and Department for Employment and Learning (DEL) areas of responsibility) should be brought under a single 'Department of the Economy'
- The Executive should establish a permanent sub-committee, chaired by the ETI Minister, to prioritise action on the economy. The sub-committee should oversee the development and implementation of an economic strategy, building on the findings of the Independent Review of Economic Policy, as a matter of urgency
- More emphasis needs to be placed on developing a portfolio of policies to promote Innovation and Research and Development (R&D), and there are a number of specific recommendations in this regard
- Invest NI should have a more focused, dedicated and professional approach to strengthening export performance in both manufacturing and tradable services
- Invest NI should be allowed more freedom to operate, enabling the organisation to be more responsive to business needs
- A small business unit to be created within Invest NI and the approach of working only with 'clients' should cease

The closing date for responses is 16 November, 2009.

#### **Key Issues**

The Council welcomes the opportunity to respond to the recent IREP as this seminal report and its recommendations will make an effective contribution to the future of the Northern Ireland economy and the future of economic development activity.

The Council supports many of the recommendations set out within the review however there are a number of specific comments and issues that have been outlined within our response document which it would like to see reflected in the final document.

#### **Key issues include:**

 The Council is deeply dissatisfied at the lack of recognition of the role of local authorities as bodies that are capable of making a unique and complementary contribution to the social and economic prosperity of the City and the NI region.

- Despite recent commitments by the Northern Ireland Assembly to give increasing responsibility for this work to local authorities with the Review of Public Administration, this review makes inadequate reference to the RPA and the subsequent increase in economic functions to be devolved to local authorities. As a report that seeks to consider the period to 2015, these represent significant weaknesses.
- This review and its key recommendations has significant implications for the Council's existing support for business start up and development activities and our sectoral development work.
- The role of local authorities in supporting SMEs and the social economy sector is not highlighted in this review, which we feel is an omission given the important role we play as a partner on leading business development programmes and promotional activities.
- Concerns exist around the recommendation to develop a small business support unit, the purpose of which is to develop and co-ordinate relevant support to SMEs throughout NI. Given the current activities of local authorities, and their increasing remit through RPA, the relationship between the small business support unit and local government LED teams needs close attention.
- The recommendation to remove the concept/definition of Invest NI 'clients' raises significant questions which need addressed in terms of the interface between support offered by councils and that of Invest NI. Local authorities have, by default over recent years, played a key role in supporting the SME sector and have subsequently built up a great deal of expertise in this area and filled a gap in the enterprise pipeline.
- The concept of innovation within the private sector needs to be communicated particularly in those sectors traditionally low in the adoption of innovation and the successful implementation of the innovation policies recommended is highly dependant upon the ability to engage the wider private sector.
- Concerns exist as to the proposed changes to Invest NI's export assistance. Although the recommendation to make it more dedicated and professional is welcome, the proposed fee charging model may act as a barrier from companies seeking advice on exporting or beginning to export entirely.

### **Recommendation**

It is recommended that Members note the contents of the proposed consultation response and agree that it be forwarded to the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment.

### **Decision Tracking**

No decision tracking as the report is for notation only.

### **Key to Abbreviations**

IREP- Independent Review of Economic Policy

**LED – Local Economic Development** 

**RPA – Review of Public Administration** 

**SME – Small to medium sized enterprises** 

R&D - Research and Development

**DETI – Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment** 

**DEL - Department for Employment and Learning** 

ETI - Enterprise, Trade and Investment."

During discussion of the report and the suggested response, Members made the following points:

- (i) Invest Northern Ireland should be monitored by an independent organisation rather than by the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment;
- (ii) consideration should be given to methods of ensuring that family-run businesses were able to expand;
- (iii) care should be taken regarding the awarding of Business Expansion Grants, since a number of companies which had received such funding previously had left Northern Ireland once the conditions of the grant had been achieved, thereby producing no long-term jobs;
- (iv) the response should make it clear that elected representatives should represent local communities on advisory bodies; and
- (v) in connection with the comment that the Council welcomed the creation of one Department with responsibility for both skills and the economy, it was pointed out that the response should make it clear that the Council was commenting on economic issues rather than making a political statement on the number of Departments within the Northern Ireland Assembly.

The Committee agreed that the undernoted document be forwarded as the Council's response to the Independent Review of Economic Policy, subject to the foregoing comments being included:

### "Proposed response on behalf of Belfast City Council

#### **Overarching Message**

 Belfast City Council welcomes the opportunity to respond to the recent Independent Review into Economic Policy (DETI/Invest NI) as this seminal report and its recommendations will make an effective contribution to the future of the Northern Ireland economy and the future of economic development activity.

- Council is deeply dissatisfied at the lack of recognition of the role of local authorities as bodies that are capable of making a unique and complementary contribution to the social and economic prosperity of the city and the NI region.
- Local authorities are strategic leaders in place-shaping, responding to residents' ambitions and aspirations and working with partners to deliver necessary services at the local level.
- The expansion of LED activities undertaken is highlighted by an almost zero base in the early 1990s, through to a commitment of around £30million per annum in 2008/09 (Belfast City Council - £12,433,255) two-thirds of which is made up from rates contributions with the remaining third coming from other sources, mainly EU funds.
- Despite recent commitments by the Northern Ireland Assembly to give increasing responsibility for this work to local authorities with the Review of Public Administration (RPA), this review makes inadequate reference to the RPA and the subsequent increase in economic functions to be devolved to local authorities. As a report that seeks to consider the period to 2015, this represents a significant weakness.
- Council acknowledges the need for an integrated and coherent approach to economic development within the region and the role of partners in delivering a shared economic agenda, with an emphasis on the need to reform, modernise and improve service delivery.
- However a strong institutional and financial framework is a
  pre-requisite if councils are to play a lead role in local
  economic development within their district. Equally, it is
  clear that the concept of joint planning and prioritisation of
  activity with partners at all levels of government as well
  as in the community and private sectors is essential.

#### **Barnett Review**

Belfast City Council welcomes the opportunity to respond to the recent Independent Review into Economic Policy (DETI / Invest NI).

In advance of providing comments on the specific recommendations and issues as detailed in the review, there are a number of general points we would like to raise with the Review Panel including:

- the definition of economic development and local economic development activities
- the role of local authorities in supporting economic development activity
- the powers of local economic development since 1972
- the central purpose of local government and its place-shaping agenda
- the impact of the Review of Public Administration.

### **General Comments**

Belfast City Council is the elected voice of the people – the channel through which the views and best interests of its citizens are represented. Our role as a Council is to improve quality of life across Belfast. We do this by providing strong leadership and direction and by providing the most efficient and effective customer-focused services. Our *Corporate Plan* for 2008-2011 sets out six main objectives that aim to realise the vision for a better Belfast. The themes are:

- City leadership strong, fair, together;
- Better opportunities for success across the city;
- Better care for Belfast's environment a clean, green city now and for the future;
- Better support for people and communities;
- Better services listening and delivering;
- Better value for money a can-do, accountable, efficient council.

Our Development strategy, 'Belfast Capital City 2006-2010', has been built upon the Council's unique bank of knowledge on how to deliver city development using a wide range of expertise, from support for cultural and the arts, through to planning, economic development, project management, tourism development and through the Belfast: State of the City initiative. Under the 'Belfast: Capital City Strategy', the Council works to drive a competitive Belfast forward as the economic driver of the region.

The Council's role in supporting and promoting economic development within the city is a key priority identified within the Belfast: Capital City development agenda and described in detail by the associated *Local Economic Development (LED) Plan – 'Staying Competitive'*. The LED plan, covering the period 2006 – 2010, exemplifies the Council's efforts to make Belfast a better place in which to live, work and do business. It represents a commitment on behalf of the Council to drive economic competitiveness and prosperity while consolidating economic and social cohesion.

#### **Definition of Economic Development**

Local economic development (LED) is a 'set of activities aimed at improving the economic well-being of an area... in most cases it is governments that are the major supporters...in partnership with other funders.' The specific activities undertaken vary from area to area, depending on local priorities which complement the wider offering at regional and national level in Northern Ireland. They can include:

- Business start up and development activities to support the creation and growth of new small to medium enterprises.
- Sectoral development of strategically important sectors which create high value added products and new employment opportunities.
- *Employability & skills development* by ensuring citizens are adequately equipped for the labour market.
- *Urban regeneration* to improve the social sustainability, economic stability and the infrastructure of the urban landscape.
- Rural development through rural business development, diversification and rural tourism.
- Physical regeneration to create and maintain an environment conductive to attracting and retaining businesses as well as encouraging visitors.
- Tourism promotion through the development and marketing of local attractions and tourism accommodation.
- Community regeneration to enable local communities to access information, knowledge, skills and resources to improve their lives.

\_

Beer, A. & Haughton, G. and Maude, A. (eds) 2003a, Developing locally: an international comparison of local and regional economic development.

This review and its key recommendations has significant implications for Council's existing support for business start up and development activities, and our sectoral development work. Our key issues and concerns are noted within this document.

#### The Powers of Local Economic Development

Council wishes to remind the Review Panel that legislative funding for LED activity began through the 1972 Local Government Act (Section 115), which permitted councils to spend up to ½ pence in the pound of the rate for any purpose which was in the interest of its district or inhabitants. However legislative authority to undertake and promote LED specifically was not awarded until 1992 when councils were given the opportunity to allocate up to 2p (later increased to 5p) in the pound from rates monies towards 'promoting the economic development of its district'<sup>2</sup>.

A decade later the *Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Bill for 2002* awarded enhanced powers to local authorities to 'hold, acquire, and develop land for economic development purposes' to support the wider regeneration activity within their area. The enactment of this bill was accompanied by the repeal of the 1992 bill and the removal of the 5p limit on economic development spend.

However local economic development remains a discretionary function in Northern Ireland with no sustained source of direct funding from central government. As such, it is principally resourced from council budgets, with some match funding coming from external sources (particularly EU funding).

Currently, English councils are required to produce three year local area agreements (LAAs) for the economic development and regeneration of their area. These allow for more collaborative action and service delivery by bringing together partners from the public, private and voluntary sectors. As part of the development of LAAs, a growing proportion of government funding streams is now combined in a single Area Based Grant (ABG). This funding is used alongside mainstream budgets to support the achievement of specific 'improvement targets' identified in the LAAs.

http://www.niassembly.gov.uk/legislation/primary/2001/niabill7\_01.htm

However local economic development is soon to become a mandatory function for top tier councils (i.e. county, metropolitan district, shire unitary and London borough councils) under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Bill<sup>3</sup>. This Bill places on local government a range of additional duties including the preparation of an assessment of the economic conditions in their Councils will also be asked to work together with their neighbouring districts in the development of multi-area agreements (MAAs) - widening out the local area agreement referred to above. These statutory groupings bring together partners at regional and sub-regional level to tackle issues such as economic development, transport and infrastructure and skills issues. 'Economic Prosperity Boards' can be established to oversee these agreements. These will consist of council members from at least two council areas who will agree to pool resources to work on economic development issues. Council recommends the potential for applying for similar agreements in NI should be explored, particularly in the context of developing and implementing an economic strategy for the region.

One of the most important new imminent functions for local government as a result of the Review of Public Administration will be community planning. Community planning can be defined as 'anything which it considers is likely to promote or improve the well-being of its area and persons within that area...'<sup>4</sup>.

### Issues for Local Government in Northern Ireland

Council requests that a strong institutional and financial framework in NI is a pre-requisite if councils are to play a lead role in local economic development within their district. Equally, it is clear that the concept of joint planning and prioritisation of activity with partners at all levels of government – as well as in the community and private sectors – is essential.

Resources for local economic development – as part of the wider development of a council area – are drawn in directly from central government and the dependence on council funding or other external funding is much less than is the case for Northern Ireland.

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2008-09/localdemocracyeconomicdevelopmentandconstruction.html

<sup>4</sup> http://www.opsi.gov.uk/legislation/scotland/acts2003/asp 20030001 en 1

### **Central Purpose of Local Government**

Council would like to draw the attention of the Review Panel to the central purpose of local government which is to develop vibrant and cohesive local communities, in which all citizens have a voice and opportunities to shape the service which contribute to their quality of life. This means creating and sustaining the social, environmental and economic conditions which enable communities to thrive.

The Local Government White Paper for England (Strong and Prosperous Communities, October 2006) supports the role for councils to lead their communities, shape neighbourhoods and bring local public services together.'

Operating at the heart of communities Local Government is best placed to respond flexibly to local need and opportunity. Councils are ideally placed to tackle complex issues in a joined up way. Through community planning, functions including economic development can be integrated and delivered to address local need. This method of delivery was endorsed by The Northern Ireland Sustainable Development Strategy which outlined the role of local authorities' community planning work under the proposals of the then RPA decisions as follows:

'To achieve this we will introduce a new power of community planning with a statutory duty on councils to initiate, maintain and facilitate a community planning process which aims to draw together all service providers within the council boundary to address community needs in a strategic and sustainable way'.

Council would also highlight that 'place-shaping' is now widely understood to describe the ways in which local players collectively use their influence, powers, creativity and abilities to create attractive, prosperous and safe communities, places where people want to live, work and do business.

Local authorities are strategic leaders in place-shaping, responding to residents' ambitions and aspirations and working with partners to deliver necessary services at the local level.

Within the Council's new Corporate Plan for the period 2008-2011, there is a clear commitment to supporting the place shaping agenda within the city under the auspices of the City Leadership theme.

Within the context of the emerging Community Planning framework, the Council, working with key partners, will seek to reshape public services around the needs of citizens and communities, accelerate delivery and achieve value for money outcomes.

#### **Local Economic Development Activities**

Council is deeply dissatisfied at the lack of recognition as to the role of local authorities in supporting economic development within the report.

Delivered as a core function of local government, LED has contributed to the achievement of Northern Ireland economic goals through a programme of council-led locally driven business support and regeneration activities that compliment the wider offering at regional and national level in Northern Ireland.

Around 70% of businesses in the Belfast City Council area employ less than 10 people and those businesses are largely supported by Council (rather than Invest NI) – local authorities should therefore be recognised for their role in economic development.

The expansion of LED activities undertaken is highlighted by an almost zero base in the early 1990s, through to a commitment of around £30million per annum in 2008/09 (Belfast City Council -£12,433,255), two-thirds of which is made up from rates contributions with the remaining third coming from other sources, mainly EU funds<sup>5</sup>. Prior to the early 1990's councils were able to use other powers in order to carry out economic development functions, including physical and community regeneration based projects.

Between 2000 and 2006 the Northern Ireland Programme for Building Sustainable Prosperity (BSP) was one of two Operational Programmes which implemented the Community Support Framework (CSF) and assisted a range of projects to develop economic growth, employment, urban and social revitalisation, agriculture, rural development, forestry, fisheries and the environment. BSP was delivered mainly through the NI Government departments.

Throughout the duration of BSP Belfast City Council committed around £3.3million to business development activities and £0.5million to business start activities, half of which is made up from rates contributions. Local Councils have committed 353 employees to the delivery of local economic development activities of which 73 undertook those functions specifically related to business development and creation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Source: Survey carried out by NI LED Forum, July 2009

The current period of Structural Funds Programmes is defined by the European Sustainable Competitiveness Programme 2007-2013 and is co-financed by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF). The programme supports regional strategy by promoting investment in research and technological development and by encouraging enterprise and entrepreneurship in an overall context of sustainable development. Approximately £211m of ERDF funding has been allocated to the Programme and the Managing Authority for the Programme is DETI.

In the first two rounds of Structural Funds, councils were originally required to submit an action plan for funding for the duration of the individual programmes. However, in the current programme, applications are made on a project-by-project basis, in line with the priority themes of the Structural Funds programme and complementary to wider economic development activity being undertaken by other statutory partners.

The piecemeal nature of the current round of Structural Funds Programme places greater difficulties upon local councils to deliver integrated and co-ordinated approach to their local economic development challenges.

We affirm that local councils firstly be recognised as being best placed to deliver local economic development initiatives as supported by the current delivery of the NI Rural Development Programme, and that council must be able to apply for Structural Funds based upon an integrated action plan approach.

# **Review of Public Administration**

The review makes limited reference to role of local authorities in the delivery of economic development activity across the region, despite recent commitments by the Northern Ireland Assembly to give increasing responsibility for this work to local authorities with the Review of Public Administration (RPA).

Council is deeply distressed by the absence of consideration in relation to the RPA and the wider implications of this for the development and delivery of economic development policy and activities in the region.

Whilst Council appreciates this is a review of DETI and Invest NI, the impact of RPA and the transfer of functions which are being considered as part of the RPA have not been addressed sufficiently as to inform the recommendations outlined in the review document.

The current and increasing role local authorities' play in local economic development is firmly embedded into the economic development of the NI economy. The absence of due consideration of local authorities current and future economic development activities pending RPA has implications on many of the reviews recommendations and subsequent delivery.

To support the transfer of functions, legislative responsibility for Local Economic Development should be considered to reflect the changing role of Local Government.

# **Background:**

The background section to the review makes reference to a number of specific recommendations including an integrated approach to economic development, SME development and improving the productivity gap. Council's comments are as follows:

#### **Integrated Approach to Economic Development**

It is important to ensure that economic development activity creates a legacy for future generations and addresses the inter-generational entrenched problems facing deprived communities across the region. The Council acknowledges the current fragmented nature of service delivery within the region with numerous agencies and departments pursuing development agendas with little shared coherence or strategic vision. Council agrees with the recommendation that there is need for a real and sustainable change within the region through an agreed, coherent vision to which all partners are willing and committed to deliver.

Council would stress however that local government is ideally placed to co-ordinate and deliver an integrated approach to local economic development based upon the needs of our communities.

Although it is recognised the key role DETI and Invest NI play in the economy, Council would stress that these two organisations are only part of the wider range of stakeholders involved in developing the NI wide economy and addressing those issues such as the NI productivity gap. Other stakeholders include universities, colleges, sector skills councils, trade and sectoral bodies and others involved in enterprise and social economy networks.

Whilst it is appreciated the review identifies recommendations based upon a medium to longer timescale and that current market conditions such as the recession have not been considered, it is believed that the current difficulties in the economy caused by the recession will require a more medium term approach that needs to be reflected in the development of a future economic policy.

#### **Micro-Enterprise and SME Development**

A key priority for local government is to stimulate and strengthen the local business base and to promote competitiveness within the SME and micro-enterprise sectors through the locally based activities that meet the needs of the indigenous private sector. Our LED plan for the period 2002 – 2006 delivered resoundingly positive results for Belfast including:

- £11million investment in the city
- support for the creation/retention of 1911 jobs
- creation of 914 new businesses
- support for 873 businesses through its programmes
- delivery of 42 business development programmes

During the period 2006 - 2009 Council, through its economic development agenda, has also delivered:

- £8million investment in the city
- support for the creation of 500 jobs
- support for 1,012 businesses through its programmes
- delivery of 66 business development programmes
- delivery of Council led events and seminars for 3,436 individuals

These outputs represent sound investments and real jobs that would not have been created without Council's support and they clearly underpin the vital role that we play in supporting local economic development.

The role of local authorities in supporting SMEs, micro-enteprises and the social economy sector is not highlighted in this review which we feel is an omission given the important role we play as a partner on leading business development programmes and promotional activities.

In order to maximise the impact of our work in this area and to avoid duplication of services, consideration should be given to collaborative development in programme preparation and design as well as greater information sharing between Invest NI and local councils and other support agencies. Council would welcome the formalisation of the relationship between Invest NI and local councils in supporting businesses so that there is a clear focus identified for each partner.

Council is in agreement that the NI economy needs a larger and more dynamic private sector to grow in the upturn. This finding is also the verdict of a recent report published for Council, by the Centre for Cities – a London based think tank that works with a range of cities in Britain to help them improve their economic performance.

Implementation of European Programmes such as NI Rural Development Programme and Interreg IV demonstrates the ability of local councils as being best positioned to respond to local need. In recognition of this, the needs of the indigenous business community must be recognised as being best served by local councils. We therefore recommend that responsibility for small business support should take Council's expertise and experience into account.

Throughout, the report recommends greater integration between indigenous SME's and the supply chains of larger companies. This is a welcome recommendation, particularly in the context of the current economic climate when enhanced local opportunities offer a financial lifeline for SME's.

As a funder of local capital build projects Council is already investigating options to enhance the opportunity for local sub-contractors to gain work on local projects. Council is currently developing a Construction Supply Model based around the Titanic Quarter build. This project will provide an opportunity for suitably skilled and experienced sub-contractors from the local area to gain work on the build, maximising the benefit to the local community in terms of job creation and wealth.

To support SME integration into the supply chains of larger companies Council also held local sourcing events in 2004, 2006 and 2009 aimed at enhancing SME prospects for securing contracts to supply both the public and private sectors. These projects have consisted of pre-event tailored mentoring support, a meet the buyer event with speed networking sessions between buyers and suppliers and post event mentoring designed to support the SMEs to follow up on contacts made on the day. A wide range of sectors have been catered for over the course of these programmes including hospitality, and manufacturing, print, design marketing, environmental and creative industries. Preparations are currently being made for a specific Creative Industries Sector programme for 2010.

Council recommends that Invest NI should engage with local councils on new FDI companies to the region to facilitate private sector engagement in their supply chains.

A recent survey of 500 Belfast businesses revealed that only 45% of the companies interviewed were selling into the public sector. Given the disproportionately large size of the public sector in NI, this could be construed as a missed opportunity.

A further surprising result highlighted that almost 80% of the companies participating in the survey were not accessing any government support at present. There is clearly a job to make companies aware of the support on offer and to help them access that support. Council would like to see the IREP pointing to the need for better coordination between enterprise support partners in order to make it easier for businesses to access the help that they need to grow their company.

### **Improving the Productivity Gap**

Council endorses the recommendation as outlined within the consultation document to propose alternative approaches to improve productivity and living standards in Northern Ireland and welcomes the importance placed on the role of cities in driving growth and productivity.

Belfast, as the region's capital city, is the engine for regional growth. Success or failure in Belfast has deep resonating implications not just for its suburbs and metropolitan area, but for the entire economy of Northern Ireland.

Our role as a capital city and regional driver will be further enhanced post RPA. Our new economic development plan (2011) provides an opportunity to demonstrate our continued commitment to the cities growth and development.

Council is supportive of a single integrated regional strategy and proposes that all 11 councils should be instrumental in shaping the priorities and actions of this essential strategic document. Council would also propose an integrated economic strategy for Belfast to support the regional strategy. This strategy would act as a focus for economic development within the capital city, with Council and all local stakeholders working together to achieve the agreed outcomes.

The review recognises that there will be competition between places within a region and there will be a role for the councils in defining and articulating their individual strategic advantages in terms of their unique social, economic and environmental characteristics. This identification of differentiated locations should be recognised in the strategy in support of an enhanced regional offer.

Council concur with the view that NI must improve investment in R&D and innovation if it is to close the gap with other international competitors. It should be noted, however, that NI universities have lower research budgets than their UK counterparts – an issue that should be addressed. There is a need for greater levels of investment from the private sector – something which could prove difficult to cultivate in NI's (and particularly Belfast's) predominantly SME environment.

Council would like to draw attention to the issue of incubation which appears to be absent from the document, other than references in the Annex. Incubation, a key remit of Invest NI, should be an important element of the regional development strategy that targets the higher value sectors and R&D. It is therefore important for Invest NI to clearly define its strategy for the development of business incubator facilities as this is an area proven to deliver results to start up businesses in high value sectors.

Council has recently undertaken business incubation research and is willing to share key findings with DETI/Invest NI. Our research has highlighted that that the great majority of business incubators in the UK are publicly funded and focus on public policy objectives. Further, it outlined incubation best practice in the UK and the USA and their applicability in the Belfast context. The majority of these facilities are sector specific and deal with the very sectors Invest NI target (technology, knowledge based, and environmental).

The review also states that in order to address the productivity gap, productivity gains are required in sectors some of which are outside DETI's remit e.g. agriculture, transport, distribution etc. Belfast City Council is already engaged in many of these sectors through existing initiatives therefore recognising the importance of involving these sectors to achieving the productivity gain this further enhances the need to engage with local authorities when developing economic policies.

The report also recommends measures that might be adopted to continue attracting inward investment, as well as growing indigenous firms. Council would highlight that Belfast City Council acquired the licence to develop a World Trade Centre (WTC) for Belfast in 2002 and since this time has been actively developing and managing a wide range of services available through the workings of this centre.

WTC Belfast provides local companies with an effective global gateway to new business opportunities, business contacts and market intelligence and should be seen as an additional conduit for achieving greater levels of inward investment for the region. It supports companies in all aspects of international trade including global sourcing, finding international business partners and identifying new customers and offers a range of services including:

- hosting local networking events for companies involved in international trade the aim of which will be to ifnrom companies on relevant global trade issues and to facilitate networking.
- managing group trade missions which are differentiated from other trade missions available and are coordinated with other World Trade Centres.
- offering trade education workshops to develop the business skills of local companies focusing upon practical export topics including global supply chain management, export documentation and legislation.
- delivering Business development programmes for small Belfast based companies to assist them in developing and improving their global supply chain management.
- offering a Global Gateway service to companies unable to access Invest NI's in-market assistance. It offers local companies the ability to access global market information, make new business contacts and avail of consultancy services carried out by other World Trade Centres.
- offering a free Investor Gateway service to companies considering establishing a business base in Belfast. Through the Investor Gateway Service potential investors can access useful information on Belfast, be supported in inward fact finding vists as well as propoerty search service.

WTC Belfast is part of a network of over 300 WTC's which have 750,000 associated organisations and is therefore well placed to raise the profile of Belfast/NI as an ideal inward investment location and as a place to do business and visit. The existence of WTC Belfast should be noted and taken into account when considering measures to adopt to attract inward investment to the region. For more information on WTC Belfast please visit www.wtcbelfast.com.

Council agrees that NI has substantial assets – a comparatively highly skilled population and low cost office space – and would propose that this message needs to be promoted more widely in order to attract business investment to the region.

### **Full List of Recommendations:**

The review contains a full list of recommendations designed to maximise the competitiveness of the economy and help build a larger export base and one that promotes and supports the importance of innovation and R&D. Council's comments are as follows:

#### 1. Policy Development

### **Recommendation:**

As part of the review of structures with DETI (proposed in Chapter 8), the department should ensure that more resources are dedicated to policy development and monitoring.

<u>Council</u>: We would welcome that as part of the recommended review of structures within DETI, that additional resources are dedicated to policy development however linkages should be made with current structures currently involved with economic policy. We believe there should be a single economic policy for Northern Ireland with underlined specific action plans. Any economic policy should be thoroughly equality screened to ensure that social considerations are being met. Resources devoted to policy development and monitoring should not be at the expense of actual policy implementation.

### **Recommendation:**

DETI should appoint an independent economic advisor to strengthen capacity in economic policy making.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation. However it is important that the advisor is someone with international experience and has successfully assisted developed economies in achieving and increasing levels of productivity.

### 2. Policy Delivery (Invest NI)

# **Recommendation:**

The concept of Invest NI 'clients' should be removed to allow Invest NI to work throughout the entire business base to raise awareness and provide support for businesses undertaking Innovation, R&D and exports.

<u>Council</u>: Council understands the definition that Invest NI currently uses in order to determine its clients focus but recommends that the term 'client' be revisited to suggest a more inclusive 'partnership'.

We feel that the services that we – and other local authorities offer - can complement the Invest NI offering and we consider there is sufficient market for both parties to work together.

Belfast City Council and all other councils have taken cognisance of Invest NI's client approach to date and have subsequently built their past and current business development support portfolios on the development of the micro-enterprise and SME sector, which are not primarily export focused. Almost three quarters of companies located in Belfast employ fewer than 10 people (73.5%) and 87.3% employ fewer than 20 – clearly demonstrating the importance of the SME sector in the city.

The recommendation to remove this concept/definition of Invest NI 'clients' therefore raises significant questions which need addressed in terms of the interface between support offered by Councils and that of Invest NI. Local authorities have by default over recent years played a key role in supporting the SME sector and have subsequently built up a great deal of expertise in this area and filled a gap in the enterprise pipeline. We recognise that SME support needs attention but would ask for clarification in terms of the implications the removal of this definition will have for local government. Council wishes to see a clear definition of the roles and responsibilities of both Invest NI and local authorities in terms of supporting the SME sector.

Council wishes to see a more formalised relationship being implemented between Belfast City Council and Invest NI in the future, and particularly at a political level.

Council is looking forward to the creation of the new enterprise strategy. However recognition of the integral role of local councils in developing enterprise and wider local economic development initiatives must be identified. As such we are eager to play a full role in the future development of an Enterprise Strategy for Northern Ireland.

### **Recommendation:**

Invest NI should work to significantly reduce the number of its support programmes.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation, however not at the expense of smaller companies that need support.

### **Recommendation:**

Grants for business expansions should be phased out towards 2013, after which such grants are unlikely to be available under EU state aid rules.

<u>Council</u>: Although it is recognised that business expansion grants will be affected by changing EU State Aid rules concerns exist as to the ability of the private sector to raise finances to undertake business expansion projects post 2013. In many areas of Northern Ireland, a combination of inward investors and indigenous large businesses provide the backbone to the local economies, providing employment opportunities as well as sub-contracting opportunities to local small businesses. Caution must be given to the removal of business expansion grants to ensure private sector funding is available so as to not impede the growth of the private sector.

### **Recommendation:**

Business expansion not involving innovation and R&D should, where necessary, be based supportive in the form of co-investment in companies that have already been successful in securing funding from the private sector. Invest NI assistance should only be in the form of sub-ordinate debt or equity.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree there has been an over reliance from the private sector on Government grants and this has stagnated the development of the co-investment type organisations. Implementation of this recommendation would go someway to enabling this support structure to grow. However, the willingness of banks and lending institutions to lend monies to business especially over the past twelve months would give cause for concern. The process and structures need to be in place with the various lending organisations prior to this even being considered as an option.

#### **Recommendation:**

Invest NI should further reduce its support for company training, and concentrate support mainly to small firms and to projects with a high Innovative content, where retraining is necessary to realise a substantial rise in productivity.

**Council:** Council agree with this recommendation.

### **Recommendation:**

Invest NI should transfer its budgets relating to tourism accommodation back to DETI to be redistributed to a more appropriate body

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation; however we understand there is currently a moratorium on grants for hotel accommodation in Belfast and would like this to be reviewed. Belfast City Council would also like councils to be considered as a potential body to distribute tourism accommodation grants under the RPA.

#### 3. Portfolio of Innovation Policies

### **Recommendation:**

A new institution for commercially-oriented research should be explored in NI, along the lines pioneered by the successful VTT institute in Finland. The institution should be outside the University system and not subject to the constraints of the Research Excellence Framework (REF). It is envisaged that this would incorporate a number of existing near market research organisations in NI and would be charged with reviewing and taking forward the MATRIX agenda.

<u>Council</u>: Council is encouraged by the recommendations regarding a portfolio of new innovation policies being developed over time. However the concept of innovation within the private sector needs to be communicated particularly in those sectors traditionally low in the adoption of innovation. The recommendations identified to develop a more commercially orientated research institution is welcome however the successful adoption of the innovation policies recommended is highly dependant upon the ability to engage the wider private sector.

Council would stress that the review should take account of the Northern Ireland Science Park when considering its proposal for a new institution for commercially – orientated research in NI. NISP was established in 1999 as a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee to be:-

- An internationally recognised centre for the commercialisation of scientific and technological developments which is founded on a targeted range of academic and private sector research activity.

- An entity which can demonstrate the successful commercial application of the research and development activities in Northern Ireland.
- A viable asset providing real and growing value to the local economy with demonstrable benefits shared socially and geographically.
- An organisation founded on a strong mutually supportive partnership between business, higher education and the public sector.

CONNECT (formerly University California San Diego CONNECT) has assisted in the formation and development of over 1,200 companies and is widely regarded as the United States' most successful regional economic development program. CONNECT supported companies have been twice as likely as other entrepreneurial companies to be successful and in business after five years.

NISP CONNECT is the Northern Ireland element of the Connect network and acts as the catalyst between NI's entrepreneurs, research institutions, investors, technology corporations and service providers by linking entrepreneurs with the resources they need for success. The portfolio of programmes create the networks which serve to breakdown social and professional hierarchies and drive lateral learning and knowledge transfer; the social infrastructure on which the growth and sustainability of new enterprise depends. The end result is an increase in the quantity of science and technology businesses and their chances of success.

Connect focuses on five key programs on a year round basis:

- Springboard (Enzyme) a year-round, flagship program that assists technology-based companies and entrepreneurs refine their business and financial strategies through a group mentoring process.
- Frameworks (Innovanet Entrepreneur series) a series of 23 half-day workshops targeted at entrepreneurs and the research community. Content is delivered by experts from service providers (law firms, IP, accounting). Key themes are demystifying the Venture capital process or intellectual property basics. Workshops are delivered onsite at the Universities which will further promote NISP to the local audience.

- Innovanet Evening Series Case studies of successful ventures from inside and outside of the region or leading innovation breakthroughs from established European technology companies delivered at the Innovation Centre
- 25K (potentially 85K award in 2008)

   continuation and expansion of the successful program to stimulate action around good ideas
- halo business angel network

Council asks the Review Panel to note that an evaluation of the property and non-property aspects of the Northern Ireland Science Park is currently underway and key findings are expected to be published in November. This evaluation evaluates the performance and impact of the Science Park over the past 10 years.

#### Recommendation:

Additional research in Universities and public sector bodies should be aligned closely with the needs of industry in NI and potential inward investors to NI. The development of specific new research capabilities should be used as an incentive to attract potential investors.

<u>Council</u>: Council welcomes the development of new research capabilities which can be used in Belfast's value proposition to attract potential investors.

#### **Recommendation:**

Industry-led Innovation communities, as suggested in the MATRIX report, should be developed as a pilot to bring together business, academia and Government and exploit available market opportunities.

**Council:** Council agree with this recommendation.

#### **Recommendation:**

More should be done to support innovation in service sector firms beyond software.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation as the Belfast economy is moving from a manufacturing dominated environment towards a service sector environment. If we are to address the productivity gap in the future we will need our service businesses to innovate to keep up and succeed in the marketplace.

Council advocates the need for providing support for businesses undertaking Innovation, R&D and exports but recommends there must be greater clarity and understanding of the concepts of innovation, R&D and exports which need to be communicated and understood by all stakeholders operating within the economic development environment.

### **Recommendation:**

Invest NI's export assistance should become more dedicated and professional, adopting a similar model to the fee-charging export agencies identified in Chapter 6, with two tiers of charges depending on whether the company is an SME or large firm.

<u>Council</u>: Concerns exist as to the proposed changes to Invest NI's export assistance. Although the recommendation to make it more dedicated and professional is welcome, the proposed fee charging model may act as a barrier from companies seeking advice on exporting or beginning to export entirely.

### 4. Policy Delivery (DETI)

### **Recommendation**

As soon as practicable, DETI and other relevant departments should commence work on preparing a case for retaining state aid limits that support the changes outlined in this Review.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree that departments should prepare the case for retaining state aid limits. Existing state aid limits imply that competitive businesses in the market place can only receive a limited amount of support from a public source – the threshold of which is 200,000 euros over a three year fiscal period. A reduction in state aid limits would impact upon the ability of LED to deliver business development support to the existing SME and micro-enterprise market.

#### **Recommendation:**

DETI and Invest NI should undertake an immediate and focused review of its overall strategic and sectoral approach to capitalise on the benefits of new telecommunications connectivity in NI.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree on the need to undertake this strategic and sectoral review and would welcome the opportunity to work in partnership with DETI to encourage adoption through local economic development initiatives and to ensure connectivity of new physical infrastructures to initiatives such as Project Kelvin.

### 5. Policy Performance

### **Recommendation:**

DETI, as the funding department, should report on the strategic performance of Invest NI, with the co-operation of Invest NI statistical staff.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree that as the main policy provider, DETI should take overall responsibility for the monitoring of Invest NI's performance against targets. The performance should be reported regularly against initial targets.

#### **Recommendation:**

Relevant policies and accompanying resources should be updated annually to quantifiably demonstrate how individual policies/organisations contribute to the PfG productivity goal.

<u>Council</u>: Council would endorse the need to update policies annually and agrees there should be a clearer link between intervention and the overarching PfG productivity goal. However, when reporting on how individual policies/organisations contribute to the PfG productivity goal, consideration of LED activities and how they too contribute to the PfG productivity role should be considered in order to get a complete picture of performance against overarching outputs. DETI and Invest NI should not be the only organisations considered. Policies should also be reviewed regularly as the external environment changes and if need be, should be updated accordingly.

#### **Recommendation:**

The Invest NI data collection system needs to be developed as a single database, to be maintained by DETI. The IREP database, constructed specifically for the Review, will be transferred to DETI to help facilitate this process.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation but would strongly advise that other stakeholders involved in local economic development (e.g., local councils) should also have access to this information to facilitate a more joined up approach in terms of overall programme development and support for local companies. Council is developing its own system of data collation and monitoring - entitled Belfast Citystats and we would be very keen to share our information with any system that DETI will have in place.

#### 6. Finance

### **Recommendation:**

Aside from those funds designed to support seed stage projects, Invest NI should disengage its direct involvement with venture capital (VC) funds. Rather than direct participation in the market, Invest NI should act as a facilitator between companies and VCs. In the case of seed stage VC funds, Invest NI should avoid placing restrictions on the market as outlined previously (Chapter 3).

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation. However in consideration of the increasing emphasis on innovation and R&D the removal of direct activity within the VC market needs to be carefully managed. Traditionally companies that are highly innovative and/or engaged in R&D would be the likely target for VC funding and as such any removal of direct involvement by Invest NI in this market may affect the deliverability of other recommendations.

The retention of direct involvement in seed corn funding is welcomed but must be developed in line with local authorities who will be given the responsibility for entrepreneurship through RPA.

We recommend Invest NI's venture capital initiatives should be linked to and support local economic development activities undertaken by local councils to ensure indigenous locally operating businesses have accessibility to VC funding.

### 7. Project Appraisal

#### **Recommendation:**

Project appraisal rules should be re-assessed to ensure that projects involving investment in innovation and R&D, which generally present uncertain and wider outcomes, are not placed at an unreasonable disadvantage with NI.

<u>Council</u>: Linking in with the above point on VC funding, the removal of Invest NI's involvement in VC funding may affect the ability of enterprises with greater risk associated with their activities to access funding.

### 8. Further Research

### **Recommendation:**

A study should be undertaken to determine how NI can more rapidly shift the pattern of inward investment towards higher value sectors.

<u>Council</u>: Council would strongly encourage the review to recognise existence of the WTC Belfast and its offering of an Investor Gateway service. Any study that is commissioned must capture and take account of the activities already engaged with by Council in the area of inward investment.

This engagement with Council is further supported by the reports recommendation for latitude with regards to FDI's ability to locate essentially where they want to which naturally results in the majority of FDI's interested in urban locations. The targeting of higher value sectors should therefore be carried out in line with urban authorities such as Belfast City Council to ensure the infrastructure; talent base and supporting value chain (i.e. smaller private sectors) are matched to the needs of higher value sectors.

### **Recommendation:**

The need to provide industrial land should be analysed to see if the perceived need for Invest NI to purchase large amounts of land is correct.

<u>Council</u>: This approach would be supported where it could be embedded within broader spatial coordination and integrated with the work on the Regional Development Strategy to provide a robust basis for the development of regional policy. This approach would support future work to develop a basis for the identification of a land supply through the new Local Development Plans to be developed by the post RPA local councils as part of their changed statutory roles.

#### **Recommendation:**

DETI and other relevant departments should undertake a study to establish how the social economy might be further helped to reduce deprivation and increase labour force participation in disadvantaged areas within NI.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation but would ask the Review Panel to note that Council engages in a wide range of support mechanisms for the SME and social economy sector and this role is expected to increase with responsibility for this sector being given to local councils through RPA.

Council has identified the development and growth of the social economy as a key element of its enterprise support plan for the period 2009-2011. We agree there should be a focus on enhancing the business viability of the social economy sector and to that end, we have opened our range of business support initiatives to businesses from the social economy sector and endeavoured to ensure that at least one social economy business participates in each of our business development programmes. Therefore any study on the development of this sector must include the role and activities of Belfast City Council.

### 9. Co-ordination of Economic Policy

#### **Recommendation:**

If Northern Ireland is to achieve a step change in economic performance, the economy should remain the top priority of the Executive for many years to come.

<u>Council</u>: Council considers economic growth to be a very important aspect of the overall development of the NI economy however social aspects should also be considered.

# **Recommendation:**

DETI, DEL and Invest NI should work together to more effectively implement their existing liaison arrangements.

<u>Council</u>: NILGA would welcome a more effective and efficient liaison arrangement between DETI, DEL and Invest NI but would suggest that local authorities, DSD and DARD should be included as a strategic partner in these arrangements in order to produce a more holistic picture of sustainable economic development activity.

#### **Recommendation:**

As part of the review of strand one institutions, the core economic functions (covering existing DETI and DEL areas of responsibility) should be brought together under a single 'Department of the Economy'.

<u>Council</u>: Council welcome the creation of one department with responsibility for both skills and the economy.

#### Recommendation:

The Executive sub-committee should agree an economic strategy, building on the findings of the IREP, as a matter of urgency.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation however would stress that the findings should not be considered in isolation for the formation of an economic strategy. As the author states the wider economic environment has not been considered and recent economic conditions such as the recession have not been taken into account. Council is disappointed and gravely concerned that the findings do not consider RPA and the implications on future economic activity, or the current and future role undertaken by local authorities.

### 10. Governance Arrangements

#### **Recommendation:**

DETI should undertake an internal review of its structures to ensure that the allocation of staff is more fully aligned with its policy objectives.

<u>Council</u>: Council recommends that the internal review also considers the allocation of staffing in Invest NI and DEL.

#### **Recommendation:**

The core functions of strategic policy development and performance monitoring should be brought together within any revised DETI structures. The department should also provide the necessary support, professional and otherwise, to the Executive sub-committee on the economy.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation however it is important to note there are a wide range of other organisations involved in policy development and performance monitoring (e.g., Council). These other organisations should be consulted.

#### **Recommendation:**

A small business unit should be created within Invest NI, with responsibility for the development and coordination of relevant support to SMEs throughout NI.

<u>Council</u>: The promotion and encouragement of enterprise development is critical to the economic vitality of the region and aligns with the priorities of Council in supporting economic development. Council acknowledges that a vigorous enterprise culture is central to the success of Belfast and the region and welcomes the focus on supporting an innovative culture, particularly within the SME and micro-enterprise sector, which is a major growth engine for the Belfast and NI economy.

Although Council welcomes the development of an Enterprise Strategy for Northern Ireland we are disappointed that no progress has been taken regarding the advancement of this strategy. This condition has resulted in an absence of a co-ordinated approach for enterprise activity. Although we recognise the impact of the Barnett Review's findings on this strategy, council requests that dialogue from DETI takes place on developments surrounding this document.

However, concerns exist around the recommendation to develop a small business support unit, the purpose of which is to develop and co-ordinate relevant support to SMEs throughout NI. Given the current activities of local authorities and their increasing remit through RPA the relationship between the small business support unit and local government LED teams needs close attention.

It is proposed under RPA that the responsibility for the Enterprise Development (EDP), Social Economy (SEP) and Youth Entrepreneurship (Prince's Trust and Advantage NI) programmes are transferred to councils however the recommendation contained within the document does not take this into account. The creation of a small business unit would diminish the work currently being completed through council's economic development initiatives. Belfast City Council has close linkages with the business base in the city and has plans to further support the SME sector in years to come.

The degree of local awareness which councils possess is critical if future policy-making is to be focused on the appropriate areas where there is most need. A centrally-managed and controlled small business unit will not achieve those objectives.

As well as the wide range of business support and training available from Invest NI and Council, the review should also acknowledge the role of the Department for Employment and Learning (DEL). DEL has many training mechanisms currently in place to support small businesses to build the talents of their workforce and boost their competitiveness.

### **Recommendation:**

Given the non-executive composition of the Invest NI Board, it should cease to perform executive functions and focus on providing strategic direction and oversight.

Council: Council agree with this recommendation.

### **Recommendation:**

A senior member of the DETI Departmental Board should be represented on the Invest NI Board.

**Council:** Council agree with this recommendation.

## **Recommendation:**

High level experience in international business and expertise in economic development should be sought when the Invest NI board is reconstituted.

<u>Council</u>: Council agree with this recommendation but would highlight that the Board must also have sufficient local representation.

### 11. Advisory bodies

### Recommendation:

The ETI Minister should stand down the Economic Development Forum and establish a small advisory body, comprising expertise on regional economic development (drawn from business and economics) to provide independent advice on the economy.

<u>Council</u>: Council welcomes the recommendation for a small advisory body, comprising expertise on regional economic development to be established and the recommendation to include representatives from the local community. Council would stress that local authorities (including Belfast City Council) must be considered as a representative on the new advisory body in consideration of the current and growing responsibility for local economic development.

# 12. Skills

### **Recommendation:**

The local education system should prepare now to meet the anticipated increased demand for higher level skills in STEM and other Innovation relevant subjects arising from the increased prioritisation of Innovation and R&D.

<u>Council</u>: Council agrees with this recommendation. We have recently commissioned research on skills demand and supply which suggests that over half of net new jobs in Belfast over the next decade will require graduate qualifications while less than 1 in 7 are expected to require no qualifications. We would be happy to share this information with DETI and Invest NI.

However Council would argue that increasing employment levels cannot be done by completely ignoring the lower value added sectors as these can potentially provide an avenue though which people can get into employment (or back into employment). There needs to be considerable focus on skills development, with work required on what skills are needed for the current and future employment opportunities.

In addition to knowledge-based industries, Council would suggest that the creative industries and health sectors be acknowledged as growth industries and adequate support be provided to help the capacity and skills base within the region to accommodate this growth.

The knowledge industries are a priority area in Council's own LED Plan and we have undertaken a baseline study of the city's knowledge industries in order to develop our strategic work in this area. We have also undertaken sector analysis on Financial Services, Business Services, Health and Education and would be happy to share these findings with DETI/Invest NI.

The significant challenge to maintain and improve the skills base suggests a need to retain and attract back graduates and well-qualified persons into the labour market (aimed at NI students graduating locally, NI students graduating in GB and NI professionals working in GB, ROI and beyond.) Such a flow of skilled labour could help to address managerial and diversity of graduate subject weaknesses.

However, we have a concern that too much emphasis is placed on high-level skills and graduates - people with lower skills levels and those who are long-term unemployed should not be forgotten either. Any economic policy should take into account the impact of economic growth, and more recently, a recession, on those at the bottom of the skills scale. Re-skilling, further skills development and capacity building should also play a part in the economic policy.

After recognising there are many agencies responsible for the delivery of employment and skills policy and programmes, but no one single agency with the responsibility for coordinating activity, Council convened a Belfast Employment and Skills Board in May 2009 involving representatives from central and local government, universities, colleges, community organisations and employer bodies with the main aim of helping address current and future needs facing the city and developing new ideas and approaches to tackling skills and employability deficiencies.

In January 2010 Belfast City Council will have an agreed strategic framework and action plan which will outline how Belfast will play a role in meeting the Northern Ireland Programme for Government's key objective of having an employment rate of 75% by 2020.

### **Recommendation:**

DEL, DETI and Invest NI should work to significantly develop management and leadership skills in NI and support the proposal for government to sponsor a 'Management Masterclass' to identify and develop the best managers from local industry and the public sector.

Council: Council agree with this recommendation.

### 13. Infrastructure

### **Recommendation:**

The Executive should ensure that the third ISNI plan takes a much greater economic focus by committing more investment into projects that will maximise NI's future economic performance.

<u>Council</u>: Council agrees for greater economic focus into projects that will maximise NI's future economic performance as this will further enhance and benefit the attractiveness of NI from an investor perspective and recognising the importance of the urban cities in attracting the infrastructure investment should be reflected of this.

This recommendation should be linked to the Regional Development Strategy to ensure the investment is sustainable and seeks to maximise the value of existing assets and infrastructure.

### 14. Planning

### **Recommendation:**

In the context of reform, the Planning Service should be given processing time targets which are comparable and competitive with those countries and regions against which NI is competing for mobile international investment.

<u>Council</u>: This recommendation would be supported with the obligations transferring to councils following RPA - with the caveat that the transfer should be adequately resourced in recognition of the importance ascribed to the process by the report. The focus should not be exclusively on FDI or larger development proposals the transformation of the system and the targets should benefit the whole economy.

Scope needs to be included that will result in improvements to the timeline of planning applications for SME's and NI indigenous planning applications especially in light of European funding timescales which can be greatly affected by planning processing timescales.

### **Recommendation:**

Planning Service should work to ensure that the legislative timetable for reform is met.

<u>Council</u>: The recommendation for the timetable to be met should also make reference to the importance of the system being adequately resourced and the necessity for appropriate continued delivery of effective support from the departments that will continue to be involved in a consultancy capacity such as DRD and DoE.

### **Recommendation:**

The Strategic Projects Team should deal with all applications relating to investment new to NI. In addition, in terms of what constitutes a 'regionally significant development', a clear definition and qualifying criteria should be developed and agreed between DoE, DRD, DETI and Invest NI.

<u>Council</u>: The Council would suggest that this recommendation be reconsidered or reframed to take account of the transfer of functions under RPA. The source of investment ('new to NI') should not form the basis for regional significance or which body should determine the application. The Council has in the responses to the reform has also highlighted the need for clarity around the issue of 'Regionally Significant' applications. The Council considers that the number of applications that would fall within this category should be kept to a minimum to ensure there is clarity in the delivery of the planning function post RPA. Only application of such a scale to be considered to have a wider regional impact or those clearly contrary to approved plans should be considered to fall within a regionally significant category that would be determined by the elements of Planning Service retained by the DoE.

# **Recommendation:**

The Pre-Application Discussion (PAD) process must be as efficient as possible and the

<u>Council</u>: Council would support the continued refinement of the PAD process as outlined in the reform document both in relation to the requirement of planning authority and the obligation on the applicant to satisfy the necessary information requirements.

### 15. Conclusion

Council remain supportive of all efforts to improve the economic performance of the region and believe that Councils should be more involved in the debate on the future economic policy for Northern Ireland.

We support many of the recommendations set out within the review, however, there are a number of specific comments and issues that have been outlined within this response document which it would like to see reflected in the final review document. In particular there are some fundamental issues with regard to the report in respect of the failure to consider the current direct role of Local Authorities in economic development, the potential changes in the roles of local authorities post RPA and the transfer of other functions referred to in the recommendations. As a report that seeks to consider the period to 2015 these represent significant weaknesses."

### **Economic Development Unit Update**

### **Belfast City Centre Management – Presentation**

In response to a request, the Committee agreed to receive at its next monthly meeting a presentation from Belfast City Centre Management on its outline business plan for 2010/11.

### Festive Lighting - Arterial Routes

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Relevant Background Information

Members will be aware at Development Committee meeting of 15 October 2008 discussion took place in connection with festive lighting during the Christmas period. At this meeting Members expressed the view that in 2009 they would like to see emphasis being placed on the provision of festive lighting on those streets which acted as gateways to the City centre rather than those streets within the centre of Belfast alone. Committee subsequently agreed that further discussions be held with the Belfast Chamber of Trade and Commerce to examine methods of ensuring that the arterial routes within the City are made more festive during the 2009 Christmas period. This issue has since been explored and 'A Guide to Christmas Lighting in Belfast' has been produced and distributed to areas outside the City centre.

### **Key Issues**

Festive lighting is a key element in providing a vibrant atmosphere during the Christmas period. It is at the core of creating an area's identity and can actively contribute towards attracting shoppers and therefore bolstering trade during the Christmas period.

The Belfast Chamber of Trade and Commerce and Belfast City Centre Management (BCCM) have recently prepared and distributed a Christmas lighting leaflet to trader groups across the City providing details of the various lighting options available (e.g. tree lighting, lampposts, cross-street and wall mounted lights) and the associated average costs per unit, including installation and connection fees.

BCCM is eager to project manage additional lighting schemes outside of the City centre and has informed these groups that they are willing to manage the health and safety issues and implementation of lighting on their behalf, free of charge.

Trader groups are however required to purchase their own lights either through the existing City centre contract or through their own networks.

### **Resource Implications**

No specific resource implications associated with this activity.

### Recommendation

It is recommended that Members note the content of this report.

### **Decision Tracking**

No decision tracking required."

During discussion in the matter, the Head of Economic Initiatives undertook to investigate whether or not the Festive Lighting Guide referred to in the report had been provided to businesses in the York Road area of the City.

Noted.

### **East Belfast Mission - Request for Funding**

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Relevant Background Information

At the April 2009 Development Committee, Members agreed to provide match funding to four organisations which had been successful in securing financial assistance through the European Social Fund (ESF). These organisations were East Belfast Mission, North Belfast Partnership, Women into Business and Training for Women Network. The approval granted was to provide funding for the 2009/10 financial year only and, as a condition of the funding, the four groups were not to request any further money from the Council in connection with the 2010/2011 aspect of their ESF projects.

Recently, East Belfast Mission has written to the Council seeking match funding of £52,509 to further support the Work 4 U project in the 2010/2011 financial year.

### **Key Issues**

East Belfast Mission, through the Stepping Stone Project, currently delivers the Work 4 U project, funded by ESF and match-funded by the Council. The aim of this programme is to work with unemployed individuals in East Belfast, including those deemed economically inactive, and assist them to find employment.

When Members agreed in April 2009 to co-finance support for all four projects, it was agreed that as a condition of the year two funding, all groups in receipt of match funding must not request further money from the Council in connection with the 2010/2011 aspect of their ESF projects. This condition was written into all four separate Funding Agreements - all of which were signed by the individual parties and returned for the Council's official seal of approval.

Whilst the Work 4 U project is worthy, it is for the reason noted above, that the Development Department has not made provision in its revenue estimates for 2010/11 for groups participating in European Social Fund Projects.

The Council believes it is imperative there is a more strategic, co-ordinated approach to tackling the skills and employability needs of its residents and is currently taking steps to address this issue. In response to this, Members agreed in December 2008 to a proposal to open discussions with Department for Employment and Learning (DEL) and other key skills and employability partners in order to develop an agreed strategy for our City.

Members are advised that the Council convened a Belfast Employability and Skills Board in May 2009, including representatives from Central and Local Government, Universities, Colleges, sector skills councils, trade bodies and the local community. Since this group first formed, regular meetings have taken place and a 'Belfast Employability & Skills Action Plan' is currently in development which will help address current and future needs facing our City. This document is expected to be finalised in January 2010 and is intended to help shape the Council's future role in employability and skills related activity – in particular advancing joint activity with key partners and stakeholders in responding to the economic downturn.

Members are asked to note that if financial assistance is offered to the Work 4 U project it is likely we will be asked to support other ESF projects that we are currently financing, including Local Employment Access Partnership (LEAP), Women into Business and Training for Women Network. Members are also reminded that there are 47 ESF projects in total in the Belfast area and we cannot rule out the possibility that some of these projects would not approach us for year three funding.

Members should also be aware that, given that ESF activity is funded by the EU, any agreement to co-finance these projects will preclude the draw-down of monies from the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment (DETI) (i.e. the money for co-financing will have to come from rates monies only).

### **Resource Implications**

The budget for the Work 4 U project over a 12 month period would be £52,059.

### Recommendation

It is recommended this proposal is not funded given the lack of funding within Council and the decision taken by Members in April 2009 – that is, groups in receipt of match funding must not request further money from the Council in connection with the 2010/2011 aspect of their ESF projects. In addition, agreeing to co-finance the Work 4 U project for one further year would adversely affect other activity planned, most notably, that of the Belfast Employability and Skills Board.

### **Decision Tracking**

No decision tracking required if recommendation is accepted."

The Committee agreed, in view of its decision of 20th April, not to provide funding in the 2010/2011 financial year to the East Belfast Mission in connection with its Work 4 U project.

### Retail Therapy - Tender

The Committee was reminded that, at its meeting on 13th May, it had agreed that a second series of the Retail Therapy Programme, a bespoke business development programme for independent retailers which aimed to improve their competitiveness, be undertaken. The Head of Economic Initiatives pointed out that a sum of £50,000 had been included within the Departmental budget to enable this scheme to be undertaken.

0The Head of Economic Initiatives informed the Committee that a tender to deliver this initiative would be issued towards the end of the year and recommended that authority be delegated to the Interim Co-Directors of Development, in conjunction with the Chairman, to accept the most economically advantageous tender received. She indicated that the evaluation criteria would be based on both cost and quality.

The Committee adopted the recommendation.

### **Committee Site Visits**

The Head of Economic Initiatives informed the Committee that, recently, both Members and external organisations had expressed an interest in the Committee undertaking a number of site visits to various companies operating within Belfast, as part of an ongoing process of relationship-building between Councillors and the local business community. She reported that, to date, interest had been expressed by the Port of Belfast, Stena Line, George Best Belfast City Airport, Belfast International Airport and the Northern Ireland Science Park.

After discussion, the Committee agreed to undertake a series of site visits as outlined above.

### **Customer/Stakeholder Engagement**

The Committee agreed to host during December, at a cost not to exceed £3,000, an information networking session for its customers and stakeholders.

### Markets Unit Update

### Oxford Exchange Restaurant

The Head of Economic Initiatives informed the Committee that the Oxford Exchange Restaurant at St. George's had been closed since July to enable it to be refurbished. The owners, who intended to re-open the facility in mid-November under the name "St. George's Market Bar and Grill", had been working closely with staff from the Markets Unit and with the Market traders with a view to increasing the amount of produce which the restaurant purchased from the Market.

She pointed out that discussions were ongoing between Council officers and staff from the Northern Ireland Environment Agency's Historical Buildings Unit regarding a request from the owners of the restaurant to erect additional signage both inside and outside the building.

The Head of Economic Initiatives recommended that the Committee approve the new signage for the "St. George's Market Bar and Grill", subject to the Northern Ireland Environment Agency's Historical Buildings Unit granting permission for it to be erected.

After discussion, the Committee adopted the recommendation.

### Two Replacement Markets in St. George's Market

The Head of Economic Initiatives pointed out that, since St. George's weekly markets were held on Fridays and Saturdays, the markets which were due to be held on Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Year's Day would not be taking place. This would result in the loss of approximately £5,000 in stall rental to the Council and would impact on the income of the traders. Accordingly, she recommended that additional markets be held on 22nd and 23rd December and that the regular Friday and Saturday stallage rents be charged.

The Committee adopted the recommendation.

### **Tourism Unit Update**

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Key Issues

- 1. Belfast Visitor and Convention Bureau Presentation to Development Committee
- 2. Cathedral Quarter Steering Group Presentation to Development Committee
- 3. Arts Council of Northern Ireland Special Development Committee Meeting

# 1. <u>Belfast Visitor and Convention Bureau - Presentation to</u> Development Committee

Members will be aware that the Belfast Visitor & Convention Bureau (BVCB) was established in 1999 to promote Belfast as a major leisure and business tourism destination. Their Mission Statement is:

'to establish Belfast as a world class visitor destination by increasing the contribution that tourism makes to the economy in a way that is customer-focused, delivers a quality solution in a cost-effective way, respects the environment, is acceptable to the local community and offers sustainable growth.'

BVCB is currently delivering its business plan for the 2009/2010 financial year and is working on an outline business plan for 2010/2011. BVCB has requested an opportunity to present at a meeting of the Development Committee details of current activities, achievements and draft proposals for the year ahead.

### **Resource Implications:**

There are no resource implications.

## **Recommendation:**

It is recommended that Committee receive a presentation from the BVCB at a future meeting.

### **Decision Tracker**

Following approval that the BCVB be invited to make a presentation to Committee

Timeline: January 2010

**Reporting Officer: Kerrie Sweeney** 

# 2. <u>Cathedral Quarter Steering Group - Presentation to Development Committee</u>

Members will be aware that Laganside Corporation was dissolved in July 2007. In 2008 the Department for Social Development (DSD), working closely with Belfast City Council, Belfast City Centre Management (BCCM) and key stakeholders, set up a Steering Group to develop and implement a 5 year Strategic Vision and Development Plan for the area. DSD committed funding to enable the Steering Group to produce the strategy and promote the area including the employment of a Cathedral Quarter Development Manager. The Cathedral Quarter Steering Group (CQSG) includes broad representation of arts, business, leisure, public sector and other stakeholders.

Members will be aware that the Cultural Tourism Strategy, 'Developing Belfast's Opportunity', details the aim of developing cultural tourism activity in the Cathedral Quarter. Belfast City Council has been actively involved in the development and promotion of the Cathedral Quarter as a cultural tourism destination through;

- infrastructure development in its support of venues such as the MAC, Black Box, Galleries and the Oh Yeah Music Centre
- improving visitor servicing between the hospitality and cultural sectors through skills development workshops and familiarisation tours
- working collaboratively to enhance the quality of the visitor experience in the Quarter and development of branding
- promotion in partnership with BVCB and improving communication through initiatives such as www.thecathedralquarter.com
- the development of new cultural products such as Late Night Art, Music Tourism, Summer Sundays, Support Culture Night and the development of future Cathedral Quarter Street Trading.

The Chair of the CQSG, Paul McErlane, and the Cathedral Quarter Manager, Patricia Freedman, have requested an opportunity to present, at a meeting of the Development Committee early in the New Year, an overview of the draft 5 year Strategic Vision and Development Plan for the Cathedral Quarter. The CQSG have also written to the Council inviting the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman of the Development Committee (or to nominate two Members as the Committee sees fit) to sit on the CQSG.

### **Resource Implications**

There are no resource implications.

### **Recommendations:**

1. It is recommended that the Committee receives a presentation from the Chair of the Cathedral Quarter Steering Group and the Cathedral Quarter Manager

2. That the Committee considers the invitation for the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman or their nominees to sit on the GQSG.

### **Decision Tracker:**

1. Further to approval that the Chair of the CQSG and the Cathedral Quarter Manager make a presentation to Committee

Time line: January 2010

Reporting Officer: Kerrie Sweeney

2. Further to agreement that the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman or their nominees agree to sit on the CQSG

Time line: February 2010

Reporting Officer: Kerrie Sweeney

# 3. <u>Arts Council of Northern Ireland – Special Development Committee Meeting</u>

The Arts Council is the lead development agency for the arts in Northern Ireland and offers a range of funding opportunities through the Exchequer and National Lottery funds. Its vision is to place the arts at the heart of Northern Ireland's social, economic and creative life. Providing a joined-up approach to the arts will be of paramount importance, given that the Review of Public Administration will change the landscape and culture of public services in Northern Ireland. Following a meeting between the Chairman of the Development Committee, Councillor William Humphrey, and the Chair of the Arts Council, Rosemary Kelly, permission is sought for the Committee to receive a presentation from the Arts Council at a Special Meeting of the Development Committee. The presentation is timely given that the Tourism, Culture and Arts Unit's Intergrated Cultural Strategy is nearing completion and consideration needs to be given to:

- Gain a greater understanding of the Arts Council's contribution to Belfast's Culture and Arts Sector, with a particular emphasis on promoting the value of the arts; strengthening the arts; growing audiences; and improving organisational performance
- Determine the Arts Council's future priorities for arts development in Belfast
- Establish a collaborative and integrated approach towards new opportunities

# Development Committee, Wednesday, 11th November, 2009

### **Resource Implications:**

There are no resource implications.

### **Recommendations:**

It is recommended that Committee agree to a Special Committee Meeting to receive a presentation from the Arts Council of NI.

### **Decision Tracker:**

Further to approval that the ACNI attend a Special Committee meeting to deliver a presentation.

Time line: February 2010

Reporting Officer: Kerry Sweeney."

Following discussion, the Committee agreed:

- to receive at a future meeting a presentation from representatives of the Belfast Visitor and Convention Bureau;
- (ii) to receive at a future meeting a presentation from representatives of the Cathedral Quarter Steering Group and, subsequently, to decide on the Council's representation on that organisation; and
- (iii) to hold a special meeting to receive a presentation from the Arts Council of Northern Ireland.

### **Tourism Monitor and Research Services**

The Head of Economic Initiatives informed the Committee that the current contract for the provision of an extensive marketing research campaign to monitor the tourism performance in Belfast was due to end in December. Accordingly, she recommended that tenders be invited for the provision of tourism and research services for the period from January, 2010 till December, 2013 and that authority be delegated to the Interim Co-Directors of Development, in conjunction with the Chairman, to accept the most economically advantageous tender received. She indicated that the evaluation criteria would be based on both cost and quality.

After discussion, the Committee agreed that tenders be invited for the provision of tourism monitoring at a cost not to exceed £80,000 per annum during the three-year duration of the tender and to delegate authority to the Interim Co-Directors of Development, in conjunction with the Chairman, to accept the most economically advantageous tender received.

### **Broadway Junction Public Art**

The Committee was reminded that, at its meeting on 14th October, it had been advised that an additional £66,000 was required to enable the Broadway Junction Public Art project to be completed. The sum was to enable technical approval/certification work associated with the scheme to be completed to the satisfaction of the Roads Service. The Department for Social Development had indicated that it would contribute £30,000 towards these additional costs and the Council had been asked to provide the remaining £36,000. Having been concerned at the amount of money the Council was being asked to contribute, the Committee had requested Council officers to endeavour to obtain from other public agencies the shortfall of £36,000 and, failing this, to examine the Department's existing budgets to ascertain if that amount could be found and report back to a future meeting.

The Head of Economic Initiatives informed the Committee that the responses from the various organisations which had been contacted following the meeting on 14th October were as follows:

- (i) the Department for Regional Development had indicated that the Roads Service was not in a position to provide any capital funding for the project;
- (ii) a submission to the Arts Council for Northern Ireland's Public Art Funding Programme had been unsuccessful; and
- (iii) the Department for Social Development had confirmed that it was not in a position to provide any further funding above and beyond the contribution of £30,000 which it had already committed.

She pointed out that, having been unable to obtain further funding from any organisation, a re-profiling of the Development Department's expenditure had resulted in the £36,000 being available within the existing budget. Accordingly, she recommended that the Committee agree to provide the sum of £36,000 to enable the Broadway Junction Public Art project to be completed.

Arising out of discussion, the Head of Economic Initiatives agreed to provide information to Members regarding the maintenance costs of the artwork and whether or not it would be covered under the Council's insurance policies should it be vandalised.

After further discussion, the Committee noted that the Head of Economic Initiatives would provide further information to Members and agreed, in order for the project to be completed, that the shortfall of £36,000 be met from the existing Departmental Budget.

# <u>Department for Social Development's Area</u> <u>Advice Centre Locations Consultation</u>

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Relevant Background Information

In September 2007 the Opening Doors Strategy for the Delivery of Voluntary Advice Services was published by the Department for Social Development. This set out a plan for the future of modern advice services in Northern Ireland based on a model of local commissioning arrangements led by councils, supported by DSD and operating within an agreed framework of quality standards. The original strategy has been supplemented by two further phases of research. In 2008 Phase 1 considered and mapped existing provision. This paper proposes a BCC response to the second phase of research which proposes the optimum number and location of Area Advice Centres.

Following this consultation process, DSD has advised that Minister Ritchie intends to publish further guidance 'in consultation with councils" before piloting the new advice framework in partnership. DSD has indicated its intention to invite expressions of interest from councils to permit a pilot phase in 2010. Furthermore, implementation of the new framework should take account of and fit the new council areas post RPA. DSD indicated that adoption of the agreed model will coincide with RPA implementation time scales currently expected to occur in 2011.

The consultation document includes questions directed to advice providers and funders of advice provision. The draft response from BCC only addresses funder specific questions.

### **Key Issues**

The consultation document, which is available on Modern.gov, indicates that the Area Advice Centre model will provide:

- Accessible generalist advice, advocacy and support on a range of basic and complex advice issues;
- Offer first line support to those who have specific needs;
- Act as a referral point to specialist agencies where dedicated specialist advice is required;
- Outreach and the use of telephone and online access will be used to ensure adequate advice coverage of an area, this would be agreed and implemented by the council. In Belfast it is envisaged that existing Advice providers/consortia would undertake this function.

After classification of settlements based on population and the level of service provision, 2 further tests were applied to propose locations for the Area Advice Centres.

### 1. Population

What percentage of the population lives within 5 miles of the proposed Area Advice Centres.

#### This test found that:

75% of population of N.I. live within the 5 mile radius of the proposed centres.

### 2. Deprivation

What proportion of the top 10% and top 20% of deprived Census Output Areas are within 5 miles of the proposed Area Advice Centres.

This test found that:

96% of top 10% deprived SOAs are within a 5 mile radius 90% of top 20% deprived SOAs are within a 5 mile radius

DSD further analysed whether or not Neighbourhood Renewal Areas could be readily linked to an Area Advice Centre. Information detailed in the DSD document indicates all the Belfast NRPs are aligned.

BCC has been aware of and has been working towards being part of the pilot phase of this strategy for several years. Unfortunately the proposed pilot phase, which was originally planned for 2009, has been significantly delayed.

A review of BCC current Advice and Information Services was undertaken and published in February 2008 and is available on Modern.gov. This was commissioned within the context of reviewing the new consortium based approach and to inform BCC comment on and preparation for the implementation of the Opening Doors Strategy.

The review, which was conducted by Deloitte MCS Limited, is complimentary of the consortium approach taken by the Council while identifying a number of best practice changes. It goes on to make recommendations on our future delivery approach, particularly in light of the new regional DSD strategy. Members would note that this research appears to have been very influential in the development of the DSD Area Advice Centre proposals.

A key principle of the Opening Doors Strategy is to provide an integrated network of voluntary Advice services throughout Northern Ireland and to do so in line with the planned implementation of RPA. In order to support the BCC agreed strategy and action plan to meet this time-scale, officers are currently working with the Policy & Business Development Unit to:

- Recommend an interim position and funding arrangements for the interim year 2010/11 via a Committee paper in January 2010.
- Develop an action plan to inform a Councillor agreed BCC strategy for Advice & Information Services support post 2011 via a Committee paper submitted for consideration in Spring 2010.

While the consultation proposes that each new council area will have one contract to cover provision across that council area, it proposes that in Belfast 4 contracts will be issued on a North, South, East and West basis. The draft consultation response highlights the current position with 5 consortia, which includes the City centre.

# **Resource Implications**

There is no recommendation or suggestion of any reduction in services or investment for voluntary advice provision, with implementation of the strategy taking place within existing available budgets. However, it is expected that advice services will be commissioned using a procurement process open to competition and leading to contractual arrangements.

### Recommendations

- 1. Members are asked to consider the draft BCC response to the DSD consultation document on the number and location of Area Advice Centres.
- 2. Members are further asked to note the contents of the report and endorse the officer proposal to table a further 2 reports in relation to:
  - BCC interim support for advice services in 2010/11 and
  - Arrangements to identify options and agree any future BCC strategy for Advice & Information Services support.

### **Decision Tracking**

1. Following agreement of the draft consultation response the Community Development Manager will issue to DSD noting this is subject to Council ratification.

Time-frame: 27 November 2009
Reporting Officer: Catherine Taggart

2. Presentation of two future committee reports by Community Development Manager.

Time frame: 1 January 2010 & 2 March 2010 Reporting Officer: Catherine Taggart

### **Key Abbreviations**

**BCC - Belfast City Council** 

**DSD – Department for Social Development** 

SOA - Super Output Area."

During consideration of the matter, Members expressed concern that the proposals from the Department for Social Development had not been sufficiently thought through, would adversely affect the successful consortia arrangement which was operating currently in Belfast and would result in large gaps in provision in parts of the City. Accordingly, it was suggested that the matter be deferred to enable Party Briefings, followed by a special meeting, to be held to discuss the matter. However, it was pointed out that responses were required to be submitted by 27th November.

After further discussion, the Committee requested the officers to ascertain whether the Department for Social Development would be prepared to extend the deadline for submissions and agreed that the matter be discussed further at the special meeting scheduled to be held on 16th November.

### **Support for Sport - Event Funding**

The Committee considered the following requests for assistance which had been received under the Support for Sport Scheme in relation to events and promotions:

Organisation/Event	Summary of Event and Amount Requested	Recommendation
PeacePlayers International  – Northern Ireland	Funding in the sum of £1,000 in relation to the holding on 12th December of a cross-community basketball competition for children aged between 10 and 14 at The Ozone	£972
Ulster Karate Council	No specific amount of funding requested in relation to the holding on 13th March, 2010 of the Titanic International Open Karate Cup involving approximately 200 participants at Queen's University's Physical Education Centre	£2,505
Athletics Northern Ireland	Funding in the sum of £10,000 in relation to the holding on 6th and 7th February, 2010 of the sixth Irish Indoor Athletics Championships at The Odyssey	£10,000

The Committee adopted the recommendations.

D

# **Cycling Tour Series**

(Mr. G. Copeland, City Events Manager, attended in connection with this item.)

The Committee considered the undernoted report:

### "Relevant Background Information

In October Members requested that details of the UK Cycling 'Tour Series' budget be presented in order for the Committee to assess whether the event should receive funding from BCC. Therefore the purpose of this report is to present Members with details of the event budget and to seek approval for Belfast to become one of sixteen UK and Irish cities to host this international city centre cycling event, which will be organised in conjunction with British Cycling and Cycling Ireland.

Members are reminded that the event, known as the 'Tour Series', is organised by Sweetspot, a UK based sports events company with experience in the management and delivery of events such as the Tour of Britain cycling event and the Tour de France 'Grand Depart' in London 2007. Sweetspot approached BCC's officers in September 2009 in order to ascertain whether Belfast could become a host city in May 2010. The format for the event, which is normally supported by the host city, is free to attend and based normally in the main city centre area - the proposed six lap circuit would be around Donegall Square, City Hall and the main shopping areas of the City centre. The organisers design the course to create a carnival atmosphere, with the event being televised on the ITV network. The races are sixty minutes in duration, with the option to run amateur, youth and fun-based cycling 'races' during the evening.

The proposed 2010 programme would start in Dublin, followed by Belfast, after which the event would move to Scotland - heading to Dundee and Perth. These races would then be followed by a series of events running through England and Wales. All the races would be covered by the ITV network and broadcast to an average television audience of 150,000 for the main event, with a re-run programme generating up to 78,000 viewers. It is estimated that the value of the television broadcast would be in the region of £250,000 to £350,000.

### **Key Issues**

### **Budgetary Breakdown**

Members may recall that the total cost to stage the event would be £85,000. As Members requested, the breakdown of these costs is indicated below and is inclusive of the following:

<u>Item</u>	Cost
<b>Event Infrastructure</b>	£15,600
Signage Branding	£1,100
Vehicles	£1,150
Teams and Fees	£9,500
Hotels and Travel	£4,300
TV Infrastructure	£11,000
Publicity and Marketing	£13,200
Administration	£2,800
Event Mgt Fee	£10,670
Stewarding Costs	£7,000
Health and Safety	£4,880
Cleansing/Waste	£800
Insurance	£3,000
TOTAL	£85,000

### 'Tour Series'

The rationale for staging the 'Tour Series' is to present Belfast as a City capable of hosting major sports events and as a key tourism destination. If successful, the event will indicate that Belfast has the capacity to host an international class event. Key benefits to Belfast would include:

- UK & Irish television exposure via ITV (Sweetspot do not pay or get paid by ITV for this input)
- Economic benefit to the host cities in 2009 is estimated on average at £490,000 for each participating city
- It is also estimated, based on 2009 figures, that an average day time visitor would spend around £34.39 at the event, while an overnight visitor's spend would be an estimated £55.35
- An average event audience of 10,000
- Bringing a high profile international class sports event to the City
- Belfast City Council branding throughout the event
- Potential for positive coverage of Belfast portrayed through a multitude of publications and websites across the UK and Ireland
- Promotion of health and sporting activity that can be linked to Belfast and NI cycling clubs. With potential connections to the City's leisure centres
- Allowing Belfast to be considered for future major cycling events, such as the Tour of Britain and the Tour of Ireland, and, if developed, to bid for the Tour De France's 'Grand Depart' which has been staged previously in England and Ireland.

### **Resource Implications**

The staging of any international sports event requires a high level of support funding. The maximum level of funding required to host a leg of the 'Tour Series' is set at £85,000. If approved, officers would actively pursue other funding opportunities, both commercially and within the public sector, in an effort to stage this event.

Members are asked to note that based on current budgets only £60,000 of this amount is available within the existing Events bidding stream of Department's finances. Therefore, the City Events Unit would seek funding from other sources to make up the additional £25,000. These sources would include DCAL, NITB, DSD, Sport NI and the private sector. Contact has been made with the public sector organisations, but there will be no formal commitment by the public sector funders until full funding applications are submitted. Members should note that the event would not proceed unless the shortfall of £25,000 can be sourced from these and other organisations.

### Recommendations

Members are asked to agree, subject to appropriate additional funding being secured, to the staging of the cycling 'Tour Series' in Belfast in May 2010.

### **Decision Tracking**

Further to approval a progress report would be brought to committee to update Members on the bid process with regard to additional funding and resources.

Time frame: January 2010 Reporting Officer: Tim Husbands

# **Key to Abbreviations**

NITB – Northern Ireland Tourist Board DCAL – Department of Culture, Arts & Leisure

**DSD – Department of Social Development.**"

In answer to a Member's question, the City Events Manager indicated that, although the proposed route would be based mainly in the City centre, it would include the fringes of North, South, East and West Belfast. However, he undertook to discuss with the organisers the possibility of extending the route away from the City centre so that it included other areas of Belfast. He indicated also that the audience figures quoted in the report had been based on those achieved during the 2008 event.

A Member pointed out that discussions had been held previously regarding the possibility of an event being organised which would involve members of the public cycling through Belfast's Parks and he enquired as to whether or not such a community-based scheme could be held as part of the Cycling Tour Series.

In response, the Head of City Events and Venues indicated that he would discuss the matter with both the Director of Parks and Leisure and the organiser of the Cycling Tour Series to ascertain the practicalities and operational capacity required to support such an initiative within the framework of the main event and report back to a future meeting.

Following further discussion, it was

Moved by Councillor C. Maskey, Seconded by Councillor M. Browne,

That the Committee agrees to provide a maximum amount of £60,000 towards the holding of a Cycling Tour Series event in the City, subject to the £25,000 shortfall in funding being obtained from external sources.

On a vote by show of hands seven Members voted for the proposal and three against and it was accordingly declared carried.

### **Departmental Plan Quarterly Update**

During consideration of a quarterly update report providing information on the current status of projects and initiatives which had been carried out by the Department during the period from 1st July till 30th September, the Head of Economic Initiatives answered various questions which were put to her by the Members and apologised for the omission of information concerning the work of the European Unit.

The Committee noted the contents of the report.

# Proposed Council Strategy to Tackle Poverty and Inequalities

The Head of Economic Initiatives reminded the Committee that in 2008 the Development Department had commissioned Dr. Mike Morrissey to undertake a study to assess the level of poverty in Belfast and to recommend anti-poverty initiatives which the Council could undertake in the short and medium term. Subsequently, a number of workshops had been held with Members and officers to consider Dr. Morrissey's findings, which had concluded that the Council should develop a Strategy to tackle poverty and inequalities.

She pointed out that such a Strategy would contribute significantly to both Corporate and Departmental goals and that there were three methods by which the Council could implement it:

- (i) improve access to, and delivery of, Council services:
- (ii) better targeting of the Council's existing budgets; and
- (iii) using the Council's statistical and performance management systems to monitor the levels of poverty at a neighbourhood level and the Council's achievements following the implementation of the Strategy.

# Development Committee, Wednesday, 11th November, 2009

The process to develop the Strategy would involve working closely with Members, consulting key stakeholders and public consultation. It was intended that the draft plan would be prepared by March, 2010 and, following consultation, the Strategy would be launched in October.

She informed the Members that it was anticipated that the work involved in preparing the plan in the current financial year would cost £12,000, which could be met from within existing budgets, and that the work in the 2010/2011 year would cost £20,000.

During discussion in the matter, a Member pointed out that, since many organisations had undertaken work into poverty in Belfast, there was considerable information available on the subject. He suggested that the Council should ensure that it did not duplicate the work which other organisations had undertaken.

After discussion, the Committee agreed that the process as outlined by the Head of Economic Initiatives would be used to develop the Strategy to tackle poverty and inequalities in Belfast.

### **Forthcoming Work Plans**

The Chairman reminded the Members that, at the meeting on 12th August, there had been a discussion regarding the possibility of the Committee meeting with senior officers to discuss the Department's work plans for the coming months. He informed the Members that this meeting would be delayed until the new Director of Development had been appointed.

Noted.

Chairman